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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF SUFFOLK 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------x 
THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON, HELENE FORST,  
JACK FORST, FRED BUTTI,  
MICHAEL FORST, AMY FORST, BARRY WAYNE,  [PROPOSED] SECOND  
LARRY PENNY, BETH MORAN, DAVID GRESHAM, AMENDED CLASS  
SABRINA PAGANI, THOMAS A. PIACENTINE,   ACTION COMPLAINT 
RICHARD DOTY, JOHN MCGUIRK,     
NANCY MCGUIRK, REBECCA SINGER,  
STEPHEN BRADBURY, EDOUARD DEJOUX,    Index No. 010675/2014 
ANDREA MAMMANO and other members of the class  
similarly situated with the named Plaintiffs, 
 
     Plaintiffs,    
    
  -against- 
 
LONG ISLAND POWER AUTHORITY (LIPA) AND 
PUBLIC SERVICE ELECTRIC AND GAS COMPANY  
(PSEGLI), 
 
     Defendants. 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------x 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This is a class action filed on behalf of certain residents of the Town of East 

Hampton (the “Individual Plaintiffs”), the Town of East Hampton (the “Town”), and a large 

number of other homeowners located in the same area who are members of the class seeking 

relief (the “Putative Class”) (the Individual Plaintiffs, the Town and the Putative Class are 

hereinafter collectively “Plaintiffs”).  The Individual Plaintiffs reside in close proximity to 267 

newly-placed utility poles which were installed by the Defendant electric companies within the 

Town and which carry electric power lines between two electrical substations, one in the Town 

and the other in Amagansett (the “Project”).  The poles and high voltage line have caused serious 

injury and will continue to cause serious injury to all Plaintiffs, in the following manner:  
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a. The poles have been treated with a wood preservative that contains 

Pentachlorophenol (“Penta” or “PCP”).  The Penta leaches into the soil 

surrounding the poles which are close to Plaintiffs’ homes and within the Town.  

Penta is a dangerous poison that causes serious injury to humans if its fumes 

are inhaled or the poison seeps into water tables.  That is precisely what has 

occurred with respect to the poles installed by Defendants near the Individual 

Plaintiffs’ homes within the Town, as well as Putative Class members.  

b. The power transmission and distribution lines installed and operated by 

Defendants have produced, transmitted and maintained unreasonable, harmful 

and dangerous electric magnetic fields (EMFs) that are dangerous to the health 

of the Individual Plaintiffs and the Putative Class they represent, all of whom 

are within the area affected by the high voltage line.  

c. The new poles and lines have damaged the vegetation, natural quality and 

scenic quality of the area of the Town impacted by the Project.  The Project site 

runs along low traffic volume, residential streets, which contain many trees and 

vegetation.  Many trees had to be removed or cut down to accommodate the tall 

electric poles.  Pictures of the area show that such disturbance was significant 

for the directly-abutting residences and the immediate neighborhood frequented 

by the Individual Plaintiffs, Putative Class members and residents of the Town.  

d. Utility poles and high voltage electric power lines located near residential 

property may significantly lower the value of those properties, because those 

properties are perceived by prospective buyers as being dangerous to the health 

of the residents.  The New York Court of Appeals noted in the leading case of 
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Criscuola v. Power Authority of the State of New York, 81 N.Y.2d 649, 651-52 

(1993):  

We are satisfied that there should be no requirement that the 
claimant, as a separate and higher component of its market 
value proofs, must establish the reasonableness of a fear or 
perception of danger or of health risks from exposure to high 
voltage power lines. . . . This consequence may be present 
even if the public’s fear is unreasonable. Whether the danger 
is a scientifically genuine or verifiable fact should be 
irrelevant to the central issue of its market value impact. 

 
2. In this case, there are over 300 homes located directly along the path of the utility 

lines, all of which are now devalued because of the new poles and high voltage line.  The total 

market value of the homes owned by the Individual Plaintiffs and the Putative Class they 

represent is over $300 million.  The best estimate is that the value of the Individual Plaintiffs’ 

homes and the homes of the Putative Class will decrease by anywhere between 5% and 10% 

because of the new poles and high voltage line, causing injury to the Individual Plaintiffs and the 

Putative Class they represent in the amount of approximately $30 million.   

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff East Hampton is the Town of East Hampton, New York.  The Individual 

Plaintiffs, and many potential Putative Class members, reside within the Town, where the high 

voltage line emits EMFs and where the soil, ground water and aquifer have been and continue to 

be contaminated.  As a result, the health and physical safety of the Town’s residents have been 

and continue to be compromised.   

4. Plaintiff Helene Forst is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house located 

at 176 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant Public Service Electric and Gas 

Long Island (“PSEGLI”) placed a utility pole treated with Penta in close proximity to her home.  
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5. Plaintiff Jack Forst is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house located at 

176 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole treated 

with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

6. Plaintiff Fred Butti is a resident of the Town and is owner of a house located at 

165 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole treated 

with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

7. Plaintiff Michael Forst is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a commercial 

condominium located at 26 Gingerbread Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI 

placed a utility pole treated with Penta in close proximity to his office.  

8. Plaintiff Amy Forst is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a commercial 

condominium located at 26 Gingerbread Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI 

placed a utility pole treated with Penta in close proximity to her office.  

9. Plaintiff Barry Wayne is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house 

located at 22 King Street, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole 

treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

10. Plaintiff Larry Penny is a resident of Sag Harbor, New York, and is owner of a 

house located at 3662 Noyac Road, Sag Harbor, New York. 

11. Plaintiff Beth Moran is a resident of the Town and is renting an apartment at 

26 King Street, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole treated with 

Penta in close proximity to her residence.  

12. Plaintiff David Gresham is a resident of the Town and is owner of a house located 

at 64 Cooper Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole treated 

with Penta in close proximity to his home.  
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13. Plaintiff Sabrina Pagani is a resident of the Town and is owner of a house located 

at 19 Town Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility pole treated 

with Penta in close proximity to her home.  

14. Plaintiff Thomas A. Piacentine is a resident of the Town and is owner of a house 

located at 10 Buell Lane Extension East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a 

utility pole treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

15. Plaintiff Richard Doty is a resident of the Town and is the owner of a house 

located at 18 Ashwood Court, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility 

pole treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

16. Plaintiff John McGuirk is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house 

located at 162 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility 

pole treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

17. Plaintiff Nancy McGuirk is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house 

located at 162 Newtown Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility 

pole treated with Penta in close proximity to her home.  

18. Plaintiff Rebecca Singer is a resident of the Town and is owner of a house located 

at 64 McGuirk Street, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed two utility poles 

treated with Penta in close proximity to her home.  

19. Plaintiff Stephen Bradbury is a resident of the Town and is co-owner of a house 

located at 64 McGuirk Street, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed two utility 

poles treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  
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20. Plaintiff Edward Dejoux is a resident of the Town and is the owner of a house 

located at 47 Toilsome Lane, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed one utility 

pole treated with Penta in close proximity to his home.  

21. Plaintiff Andrea Mammano is a resident of the Town and is the owner of a house 

located at 61 McGuirk Street, East Hampton, New York.  Defendant PSEGLI placed a utility 

pole treated with Penta in close proximity to her home.  

22. In addition to the above Individual Plaintiffs and the Town, a large number of 

other homeowners located in the same area are members of the class seeking relief (the “Putative 

Class”).  The Putative Class consists of hundreds of homeowners and their families, including 

residents who may not live directly along the path of the new poles, but whose groundwater 

wells and drinking water will be affected by Penta infiltration.  

23. Subclass One consists of all Town residents that reside along the Route.  

Hundreds of Town residents live directly along the Route.  These residents are at risk from the 

polluted soil, EMF waves, and loss of scenic quality around their homes, all of which decrease 

their property values.  

24. Subclass Two consists of all Town residents whose source of drinking water is the 

Town’s groundwater.    

25. Suffolk County’s ground water aquifers are the sole source of its residents’ 

drinking water, and thus all residents may be affected by Penta infiltration of the aquifers.   

26. The Putative Class is therefore so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impractical.  There are predominating questions of law and fact common to the Putative Class 

and each proposed subclass.  All members of the Putative Class, including the Individual 

Plaintiffs and the Town are physically present in the area affected by the new poles and lines.  
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All have suffered injury to the value of their property, and will continue to suffer injury from the 

Penta emanations and EMF waves in the future.  The claims of the representative parties are 

typical of the claims of the entire Putative Class, since all have suffered the injuries noted above.  

The representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Putative Class 

since counsel for those parties are experienced litigators.  A class action is superior to any other 

available method for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. Bringing hundreds, or 

more, cases on behalf of each Individual Plaintiff, each individual Putative Class member and the 

Town would clog the courts and delay eventual adjudication of the claims. 

27. Defendant Long Island Power Authority (“LIPA”) is a public service corporation 

established by the New York State Legislature in 1985 to assume the obligations and property of 

the Long Island Lighting Company (“LILCO”) following the disastrous effort by LILCO to open 

the Shoreham Nuclear Power plant.  It is the owner of the transmission and distribution (T&D) 

electrical system at issue in this case.  It prepared and submitted the erroneous Environmental 

Assessment relating to the Project.  Actual management and operation of the electrical system is 

now controlled by PSEGLI pursuant to an Operations Service Agreement (“OSA”) entered into 

between LIPA and PSEGLI on December 31, 2013.  

28. Defendant PSEGLI, a New York State limited liability company, is a subsidiary 

wholly-owned and controlled by Public Service Enterprise Group (“PSEG”), a publicly traded, 

private investor-owned holding company from New Jersey.  It manages and operates the 

electrical system owned by LIPA.  It is responsible for the erection of the new utility poles and 

electrical power lines at issue in this litigation, although the actual physical poles and lines are 

owned by LIPA.  
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STATEMENT OF FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

29. From its 1985 founding until 2011, LIPA was the only electricity supplier in and 

to eastern Long Island.  As a result of LIPA’s inadequate response to Hurricane Irene in August 

2011 and Super Storm Sandy in November 2012, pursuant to LIPA reorganization legislation, 

LIPA assigned responsibility for the actual operation of the electrical system to PSEG, which 

subsequently formed PSEGLI to manage and operate the system.  In July 2013, the New York 

State Legislature amended the Long Island Power Act, and permanently withdrew LIPA’s 

responsibility to operate the system. LIPA then signed a contract with the newly formed 

PSEGLI, assigning PSEGLI the responsibility to operate the system for at least the past twelve 

years.  

30. Among the first projects instituted by PSEGLI was the upgrading of power lines 

between the Town substations located at Cove Hollow Road, East Hampton and Old Stone 

Highway, Amagansett.  The new poles, which are 50 to 65 feet high, are replacing poles that 

were 35 to 45 feet high.  The new poles cover a distance of 6.2 miles and follow existing lines 

along many of the residential areas of the Town.  The lines travel down Cove Hollow Road, 

Buells Lane Extension, Toilsome Lane, Gingerbread Lane, King Street, McGuirk Street, Cooper 

Lane, Cedar Street, North Main Street, Collins Avenue, Old Accabonac Road, Town Lane and 

Springs-Amagansett Road, and some smaller streets as well, on all of which beautiful, high-

valued residential homes are located.  The route also contains tall, attractive and picturesque 

trees and shrubbery, which were either cut down or greatly altered in appearance.   

31. In order to obtain approval of the Project, LIPA was required to present an 

Environmental Assessment (“EA”) under SEQRA, the State Environmental Quality Review Act.  

The EA stated:  
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The EA analyzed potential environmental impact of this unlisted 
action related to: land use, community facilities, and open space; 
zoning and public policy; visual resources; historic and 
archeological resources; natural resources; hazardous materials; 
infrastructure; energy; construction and electrical and magnetic 
fields; The EA concludes that the Projected Project will not, either 
individually or cumulatively with other LIPA projects, have a 
significant adverse impact on the environment and therefore will not 
require the preparation of an environmental impact statement under 
SEQRA.  (Emphasis added).  

 
32. The foregoing statement was erroneous, and must have been known to be 

erroneous to LIPA. SEQRA required LIPA to provide a detailed environmental impact statement 

(“EIS”) detailing the adverse environmental, safety, health and socio-economic effects of the 

Project.  LIPA was also required to disclose alternatives to the Project, their cost and fair 

allocation to the ratepayers. Among the possible alternatives never mentioned was the 

undergrounding of the lines or re-routing of the lines to more direct appropriate locations away 

from residential areas, or the adoption of other measures to ensure sufficient power supply, and 

mitigate the amount of energy needed to stabilize and improve the reliability of the electrical 

system. Such alternatives include the installation of solar energy units, gas turbines and other 

energy efficiency and conservation measures.  

33. LIPA failed to comply with SEQRA requirements. Its EA erroneously and 

unreasonably found and concluded that the Project would not result in potentially significant 

adverse effects on the health of the Individual Plaintiffs and the Putative Class they represent, 

and all other residents of the Town, all of whom are within the area effected by the lines.  

34. Indeed, the EA falsely states that: 

a. The water table is between negative 20 and negative 50 feet (see Administrative 

Record at AR000010), despite knowledge that the water table is only 

approximately negative 7 feet deep in various areas along the Route that the 
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267 utility poles were installed and throughout other areas of the Town.  The 

damage of that false statement is exacerbated by the fact that the new utility 

poles are placed at least 8 feet below ground level - at the ground water level.  

The EA further acknowledges that the Project site is located over the primary, 

principal or sole source aquifer; 

b. The Project will not use pesticides (Penta is a pesticide) (see AR000012, 

number 18); 

c. The Project will not routinely produce odors (the Penta odor is constant) (see 

AR000012, number 19); 

d. The proposed action will not affect surface or ground water quality (see 

AR000015, number 5); 

e. The proposed action will not affect air quality (see AR000016, number 7); 

f. The proposed action will not affect aesthetic resources (see AR000017, number 

11); 

g. The proposed action will not affect public health and safety (see AR000017, 

number 18); 

h. The proposed action will not affect the character of the existing community (see 

AR000017, number 19); 

i. The proposed action will not cause and is not likely to cause controversy related 

to potential adverse environmental impacts (see AR000019, Number 20). 

35. The assessment also failed to acknowledge that the project would damage the 

vegetation’s natural quality and aesthetic scenic beauty of the area of the Town impacted by the 

Project.  
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36. The Town has been recognized as an area of unusual beauty and natural 

resources. The Town has adopted a resolution acknowledging its special character:  

East Hampton is defined by the unique character of its hamlets, 
villages and countryside …The farmland is rated the best in the 
state. The Nature Conservancy has designated the area as one of the 
“Last Great Places” in the Western Hemisphere … The Town is rich 
in historic and cultural resources. Development has not obliterated 
the natural and scenic characteristics once covering all of Long 
Island. The Town treasures and is committed to sustaining this rich 
array of natural and cultural resources, authentic sense of place, rural 
character, and the people who make it unique. East Hampton is and 
will continue to be a “green” community, a leader in protecting the 
environment, saving energy and preserving open space. Future 
development should be harmonious with the existing character of 
the community.  

37. It is clear to Plaintiffs that Defendant LIPA intentionally arrived at the false 

conclusions in the EA so that it could mark the Project as an unlisted action in its Environmental 

Impact Statement.  By doing so, LIPA could arrive at the false conclusion that no adverse 

environmental impact would result from the proposed Project and it could comply with SEQRA 

by filing the Environmental Impact Statement in a drawer within LIPA and not have to disclose 

the EIS to the public or other state agencies.  Such a determination also permitted the Project to 

commence much faster than had the EA been accurately and truthfully completed. 

38. In addition to Defendants’ failure to comply with SEQRA requirements, as noted 

above, Defendants did not comply with the permit requirements of the Town of East Hampton.  

In order to commence and complete a project of this kind, applicants must secure a permit to 

engage in clearing of foliage, fencing and the construction of a building that accompanied the 

construction of the high voltage lines.  Defendants failed to do so.  

39. The new poles and lines installed by PSEGLI, with the knowledge and consent of 

LIPA, are contaminated with a poisonous substance called pentachlorophenol (Penta). For 
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decades, scientists have noted the dangerous effects of using Penta in close proximity to humans 

(especially children), animals, and water supplies. One expert noted: 

Pentachlorophenol (Penta) is an extremely toxic wood preservative 
that threatens the health of people and the environment. It builds up 
in the food chain and our bodies and is passed on to our children 
through breast milk. Penta belongs to a class of dangerous chemicals 
that have left a toxic legacy around the globe. . . . Penta is so toxic 
that it is banned in 26 countries, yet the United States continues to 
allow registration and use of this chemical for treating utility poles 
and other wood. As a result of this registration, Penta contaminates 
soil, rivers, streams and our bodies.. . . Penta is devastating to human 
health and the environment. It is classified as a probable carcinogen 
by the Environmental Protection Agency.  
 

Report on Pentachlorophenol by Washington Toxics Coalition, dated February 2004.  
 

40. Another expert reported:  
 

The major wood preservatives, including Pentachlorophenol (Penta 
or PCP), creosote and arsenicals are ranked among the most potent 
cancer agents, promoters of birth defects and reproductive problems 
and nervous system toxicants. They contain chemicals that in other 
contexts are labeled hazardous waste because of the dioxin, forans 
and hexachlorobenzene contaminants that are found in them. Penta 
is used in 45 per cent of wood poles in the U.S. Treatment of utility 
poles represents 93 per cent of the remaining uses of 
Pentachlorophenol. . . The sole purpose of these chemicals is to 
preserve [wood poles] by killing living organisms [found in the 
wood].  Because they easily move in air, water and soil, they 
threaten human life.  

 
Report of Chuck Idol to Supervisor Judi Bosworth, North Hempstead, N.Y. dated April 2014. 
 

41. An analysis of the poles installed by PSEGLI and authorized by LIPA reflects that 

they are contaminated by Penta.  An expert who has examined and inspected the new poles 

reported: 

During the inspection, it was noted that the poles contained a dark 
amber color, apparently due to their recent treatment with Penta. 
There was a significant chemical odor that was noticeable at least 
fifteen feet away from the pole in at least one location. In addition, 
a small mound of soil was present around most poles to a height of 
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6 to 12 inches above the surrounding grade. At several locations, 
dark stained soil was observed within the mounded soil around the 
pole. At other poles, there was a “halo” of wet, chemical-saturated 
soil around the poles that extended a distance of approximately four 
inches away from the pole. There appears to be areas where liquid 
containing Penta may have been poured into the soil adjacent to the 
subsurface portion of the poles.  

 
Report of Peter Dermody, Dermody Consulting, Geologists and Environmental Scientists, dated 

April 22, 2014. 

42. Examination of two sample poles by Mr. Dermody showed that they were 

contaminated by Penta. “A strong chemical odor was noted in the vicinity of the poles. . .  The 

results showed that significantly elevated concentrations of Penta were detected in the soil at 

both shallow and deep locations at two of the three poles.”  The concentrations were as high as 

250,000 mcg/kg, three hundred times above the permissible limits established by the New York 

State Department of Environmental Conservation for poisonous substances such as Penta. 

43. Another expert report notes that “Penta is an undesirable pollutant whose use 

patterns should be carefully regulated to avoid contamination of soil, water and food.” Report of 

Ecologist John T. Tanacredi, dated April 24, 2014.  

44. In addition, the new electrical power lines carry a high degree of electrical 

magnetic force (EMF) that is dangerous to persons in close proximity to the lines, including the 

Individual Plaintiffs and the class they represent.  

45. The older utility lines carried electricity at the strength of 13kV.  The new lines 

carry electricity at the level of 33 kV [plus the older 13kV lines]. The new lines have the 

capacity to carry power at much higher levels. PSEGLI intends to further increase the power 

levels in the future to meet additional electricity demands.  
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46. Many scientific studies have shown that continuous exposure to high voltage lines 

that produce electrical magnetic fields can cause cancer, especially in children. See Paul 

Brodeur, Currents of Death (New York 1989).  One widely-respected report noted: “children 

living in homes with high wire code configurations were more likely to develop cancer compared 

with those living in homes where the power lines were buried.  See David G. Carpenter “Human 

Disease Resulting from Exposure to Electromagnetic Fields, Review of Environmental Health 

2013”, http://www.degruyter.com/view/j/reveh.2013.28.issue-4/reveh-2013-0016/reveh-2013-

0016.xml?format=INT. Carpenter noted that “Reports since 2000 have generally confirmed an 

association between exposure to magnetic fields from power lines and childhood cancer.”  (Id.)  

47. An extensive scientific study in California based on various expert reports stated:  

To one degree or another, all three of the DHS scientists are inclined 
to believe that EMFs can cause some degree of increased risk of 
childhood leukemia, adult brain cancer, Lou Gehrig’s Disease, and 
miscarriage..  

 
Executive Summary, California EMF Risk Evaluation, June 2002, 

http://www.ehib.org/emf/RiskEvaluation/ExecSumm.pdf.  

48. Other reports come to the same conclusion. The International Agency for 

Research on Cancer reported: 

 In 2002, in its IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of 
Carcinogenic Risks to Humans series, IARC published the results of 
an EMF health risk evaluation conducted by an expert scientific 
working group that met in 2001. IARC stated at the conclusion of 
the working group’s review: ‘IARC has now concluded that ELF 
magnetic fields are possibly carcinogenic to humans, based on 
consistent statistical associations of high level residential magnetic 
fields with a doubling of risk of childhood leukemia.’  

 
http://emf.epri.com/EMF_Health_Risk_Evaluations Updated_2_%207-09.pdf.   
 

49. An organization collecting various studies from around the world has concluded:  
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Health effects studies over the past several years have shown a 
consistent correlation between exposure to elevated EMF levels 
(power frequency magnetic fields) and the development of adverse 
health effects. The source of these fields may be a power line, 
electrical equipment, or mis-wired electrical circuits within a 
building, but the fields are the same regardless of their source. 
Unfortunately, there are no national standards to prevent the 
introduction of such problems into new construction. Most of the 
effort in creating a low EMF environment involves the elimination 
of magnetic and electric fields from the wiring system, although in 
some cases radio frequency (RF) fields may be an issue as well. 

 
EMF Services, http://www.emfservices.com/emf-health.htm 

50. Plaintiffs and the class they represent have been, and will continue to be, injured 

by the Project. Plaintiffs therefore seek an injunction to halt any electrical transmission over the 

new lines to prevent injury to themselves and the class they represent.  In addition, Plaintiffs seek 

an injunction to remove the poles, clean up and remediate the contaminated soil surrounding the 

poles down to the former depth of the poles, remediate all contaminated soil due to leaching of 

the Penta, remediate the ground water, and to bury the lines along a major corridor away from 

residential neighborhoods.  

51. As noted above, the Town is recognized as one of the most beautiful areas in New 

York and indeed on the entire east coast.  Because of its powerful aesthetic, many artists have 

lived and worked in the Town, such as Jackson Pollack, William DeKooning, Lee Krasner and 

Erich Fischl.  Mr. Fischl has noted: “Eastern Long Island has a very deep, long tradition of artists 

living out there that find the particular area conducive to their creativity and inspiration. Over the 

years, they have brilliantly captured its beauty as well as the sadness of its destruction due to 

overpopulation and industrial development.” Experts have noted the damage that electric poles 

create for the beauty of the area.  

Above-ground utility poles are an un-natural imposition on the 
scenic vistas of any community. This is especially the case when 
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placed in residential communities that in many parts of the country 
are heavily wooded. While many might contend that the trees in part 
mask the intrusiveness of the stark reality of the poles, transformers 
and strung cables, the reality is that the trees are in competition with 
the poles. As a result, the periodic maintenance of the electric lines 
require the heavy pruning of the trees to avoid damage to the lines. 
Since the lines are the prime concern of the utility, the tree surgery 
in most cases destroys the beauty of the trees. 
 

Affidavit of Dr. Lee E. Koppelman of the center for Regional Planning Consulting Services, dated 

April 28, 2014.  

52. Dr. Koppelman notes that the frequent storms that strike Suffolk County often 

lead to extended periods of power shortages because trees fall on power lines and serious 

accidents, injuries and death are caused by auto crashes into poles. If the lines had been placed 

underground, none of these disruptions would occur.  

53. In the current situation, in an effort to clear a path for the new poles, PSEG has 

trimmed various trees and otherwise changed the natural environment of beautiful East Hampton 

neighborhoods.  The actions of PSEG have destroyed the aesthetic beauty of Plaintiffs’ 

residential area.  

54. The consequence of all of the actions noted above has seriously eroded the value 

of Plaintiffs’ homes and the homes of other members of the class.  Persons interested in buying 

those homes would believe that the homes are worth less because of the dangerous and ugly 

poles and lines in close proximity to their homes.  A complete appraisal of all of the homes 

located on the path of the new poles and power lines reveal a total value of $331 million.  Based 

on valuations in other areas where similar poles and electric lines have been placed indicates that 

the loss in value of each home is between 5% and 15%.  Thus, Plaintiffs and the class they 

represent have lost value between $16 million and $49 million, exclusive of any losses to the 

Town ’s tax revenue.  
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION – PRIVATE NUISANCE  
 

55. Plaintiffs repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 54 above. 

56. The intentional improper actions noted above, including the placement of Penta 

drenched poles and the proposed transmission of EMF over the new power lines constitute an 

intentional private nuisance and interference with the Individual Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of 

the land. Such conduct also constitutes an intentional private nuisance and interference with the 

Town ’s use and enjoyment of the land, as well as that of the Putative Class.  Defendants' placing 

of the contaminated poles and the proposed emission of abnormally and unreasonably high EMF 

levels in order to increase income and profits from the sale of electric power was done without 

regard to the threatened and actual injury and danger to Plaintiffs’ property and its inhabitants, 

including the Individual Plaintiffs and their families and the Putative Class they represent and the 

Town . The leaching of Penta into the soil, air and groundwater and the proposed repeated and 

continuous emissions of high levels of EMFs into and on Plaintiffs’ property during normal and 

peak loads had a natural tendency to create danger and inflict injury upon the persons of the 

Individual Plaintiffs and their families, the Town and its residents and the Putative Class they 

represent, and to destroy the habitability of their property. The danger and harm created thereby 

was and is continuing. Such misuse of the land was unreasonable and unlawful. The conduct of 

Defendants in creating and continuing the nuisance was and is the proximate cause of the 

Plaintiffs’ injuries and damages. Defendants' conduct resulted in unreasonable interference with 

the Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their property. Defendants acted for the purpose of installing 

more power lines voltage, laced with poisonous Penta for the purpose of increasing electric 

current flow and EMFs into and upon Plaintiffs’ property (the property of the Individual 

Plaintiffs, the Town and the Putative Class). Defendants knew or were substantially certain that 
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the invasion of unmitigated, unreasonably high levels of EMFs into and on Plaintiffs’ properties 

would and has resulted from Defendants' conduct.      

57. Defendants’ conduct was and is the proximate cause of this unreasonable 

interference with Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their property.  

58. Plaintiffs and their families and their property suffered injuries and damages 

including but not limited to: actual physical illness, anxiety, distress and fear of grave illnesses 

and future treatment, and destruction of the market value and actual and perceived habitability of 

their properties.  

59. Defendants' conduct proximately, knowingly and intentionally caused 

unreasonable harm and interference with the Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their properties. 

The interference was intentional as shown by Defendants’ failure to inform Plaintiffs of the 

danger of Penta infiltration of the land and groundwater in failing to take available steps to 

reduce and mitigate the levels of EMFs. 

60. Indeed, the EA falsely states that the water table is between negative 20 and 

negative 50 feet (see Administrative Record at AR000010), despite knowledge that the water 

table is only approximately negative 7 feet deep in various areas along the Route that the 267 

utility poles were installed and throughout other areas of the Town.  This false statement on the 

EA is even more egregious when coupled with the fact that the new utility poles saturated with 

Penta are placed at least 8 feet below ground level, thus placing utility poles infected with Penta 

directly into the ground water table in various areas throughout the Town. 

61. Such interference with Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their property was and is 

intentional and unreasonable.  The nature of Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment that was interfered 

with and deprived by Defendants was the families’ quiet enjoyment of Plaintiffs’ home, outdoor 
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deck and grounds for residential and recreational use, free from harm, danger, injury and worry.  

Plaintiffs’ property was ideally suited for residential use in a quiet, attractive, safe neighborhood; 

Defendants’ power line easement may have been suitable for its original intended use for low-

level power transmission, but not suitable for high current flows, producing harmful and 

unreasonably high EMFs emitted onto Plaintiffs’ land. 

62. Defendants have not taken reasonable precautions to avoid unnecessary 

interference with the Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their property. They have failed to mitigate 

against Penta contamination or adequately reduce current flow; implement reverse phasing; 

enlarge the buffer zone for the power line easement in order to accommodate increased current 

flow; or to bury the transmission lines in underground conduits. The unreasonableness of 

Defendants’ conduct is further demonstrated by Defendants' concealment of the dangers of Penta 

contamination and concealment of Defendants’ ability to mitigate EMF emissions at little or no 

cost. 

63. The Defendants’ deliberate, intentional and surreptitious interference with 

Plaintiffs’ use and enjoyment of their property was and is substantial and beyond what Plaintiffs 

should have had to bear under all of the circumstances, and merits the award of punitive damages 

to deter Defendants and others from similar conduct in the future.  

64. Plaintiffs sustained injury and damages as a direct result of Defendants’ conduct, 

which was the proximate cause of said damages. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION – NEGLIGENCE 

65. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 64 above. 

66. The negligent undisclosed, improper placing of dangerous Penta covered poles 

over Plaintiffs’ property in a reckless and dangerous manner exposes the Individual Plaintiffs, 
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the Town and the Putative Class and their families to unreasonable levels of EMF emissions and 

Penta.  Defendants owed a duty to the Individual Plaintiffs, the Town and the Putative Class they 

represent to avoid contaminating their property by placing poles on their property containing a 

dangerous poison, namely Penta which leaches into the soil, air and into the groundwater.  

Defendants breached that duty.  The Individual Plaintiffs, the Town and the Putative Class they 

represent have suffered injury as a result of the actions taken by Defendants.  

67. Plaintiffs sustained injury and damages as a direct result of Defendants’ conduct, 

which was the proximate cause of said damages. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION – TRESPASS   

68. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 67 above. 

69. The improper use by Defendants of the easement on Plaintiffs’ property by 

secretly and continuously emitting poisonous Penta constituted an intentional and unlawful 

trespass that resulted in physical damage to the property by erecting a Penta barrier denying 

reasonable use and access thereto, entitling Plaintiff to compensatory damages as owner of the 

property. Defendants invaded, intruded and entered Plaintiffs’ property with extremely high 

Penta emanations affecting Plaintiffs’ exclusive possession, occupation and habitation thereof; 

this invasion, intrusion and entry was done intentionally and with knowledge; and caused direct 

injury to Plaintiff and their families— injuries and damages including but not limited to: physical 

illness, anxiety, distress and fear of grave illnesses and future treatment therefore, and the 

destruction of the market value, and actual and perceived habitability of their properties.  

70. Each party to an easement owes certain duties to the other, and the use of an 

easement must be reasonable and as little burdensome to the servient estate as the nature of the 

easement and the purpose permits. The emanations of high levels of Penta affects the Plaintiffs’ 
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possessory interest in their properties.  Defendants' actual use of the easement was and is 

improper and unreasonable in light of the harm caused, the foreseeability of the harm caused, the 

purpose and motive with which the actions of Defendants were done, and the consideration of 

whether the utility of the use of the land outweighed the gravity of the resulting harm. The 

Defendants' improper use of the easement exceeded its intended scope and authorization and 

proximately caused Plaintiff personal injuries and injuries to their properties. Those and similar 

injuries and conditions were foreseeable, and the Defendants could easily have prevented those 

injuries to Plaintiff, Plaintiffs’ families and their property by taking preventive mitigation 

measures prior to inflicting any harm and creating any danger. 

71. Plaintiffs sustained injury and damages as a direct result of Defendants' conduct, 

which was the proximate cause of said damages. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION -- FRAUD, DECEIT AND MISREPRSENTATION  
 

72. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 71 above. 

73. In its Environmental Assessment, Defendant LIPA made the following statement, 

in accordance with 6 NYCRR § 617.9(a)(5)(i)(b):  

The EA analyzed potential environmental impact of this unlisted 
action related to: land use, community facilities, and open space; 
zoning and public policy; visual resources; historic and 
archeological resources; natural resources; hazardous materials; 
infrastructure; energy; construction and electrical and magnetic 
fields; the EA concludes that the Projected Project will not, either 
individually or cumulatively with other LIPA projects, have a 
significant adverse impact on the environment and therefore will not 
require the preparation of an environmental impact statement under 
SEQRA.  (Emphasis added).  
 

74. The EA falsely stated that: (1) there were no pesticides involved in the Project 

(see EA number 18 (AR 12); (2) the groundwater level was deeper than it actually is and that the 

poles would not be able to reach the groundwater (see EA number 8, AR 10); (3) none of the 
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Project is located within a 100 year flood plain (see EA number 15, AR 11); (4) the Project will 

not produce odors (see EA number 19, AR 12 and EAF 17, AR 18); (5) the Project will not 

affect any water body (see EA number 3, AR 15); (6) the Project will not affect surface or 

ground water quality or quantity (see EA number 5, AR 15); (7) the Project will not affect air 

quality (see EA 7, AR 16); (8) the Project will not affect aesthetic resources (see EA 11, AR 17); 

(9) the Project will not affect public health and safety (see EA 18, AR 19); (10) the Project will 

not affect the character of the existing community (see EA 19, AR 19); (11) the Project is not 

likely to cause public controversy over potential adverse environmental impacts (see EA 20, AR 

19); and (12) the Project will not impact the exceptional or unique characteristics of a critical 

environmental area (see EA 14, AR 18).  

75. Those statements were erroneous and incomplete and must have been known and 

intentionally conceived to be erroneous and incomplete to LIPA.  SEQRA required LIPA to 

provide a detailed environmental impact statement detailing the need for the project, its costs, 

benefits and risks, and any adverse environmental, safety, health and socio-economic effects of 

the Project.  LIPA was also required to, and intentionally failed to, disclose alternatives to the 

Project, their cost and fair allocation to the rate-payers.  See ECL §8-0109(2):  

The purpose of an environmental impact statement is to provide 
detailed information about the effect which a proposed action is 
likely to have on the environment, to list ways in which any adverse 
effects of such an action might be minimized, and to suggest 
alternatives to such an action so as to form the basis for a decision 
whether or not to undertake or approve such action. 

 
76. Among the possible alternatives never mentioned was the undergrounding of the 

lines or re-routing of the lines to more direct appropriate locations away from residential areas or 

adoption of other measures to insure sufficient power supply and mitigate the amount of energy 
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needed to stabilize and improve the reliability of the electrical system. Such alternatives include 

the installation of solar energy units, gas turbines and other energy conservation measures.  

77. LIPA failed to comply with SEQRA requirements. Its EA erroneously and 

unreasonably found and misrepresented that the Project would not result in potentially significant 

adverse effects on the health of all Plaintiffs and the Town, all of whom are within the area 

affected by the lines, and that the project would not damage the vegetation’s natural quality, 

water quality and scenic beauty of the area of the Town impacted by the Project.  LIPA and 

PSEGLI misled the Town by intentionally omitting material and truthful information about the 

Penta loaded poles and upgraded dangerous transmission lines, violating the Town’s local laws, 

and ordinances, installing the Penta saturated poles without a required permit and by failing to 

disclose that the EMF levels of electromagnetic fields would cause injury. LIPA also failed to 

disclose the dangerous cumulative effect of the Project.  

78. The misrepresentations by LIPA that the new project did not pose any 

environmental problems and the failure to disclose the use of poles loaded with Penta and the 

source and nature of EMFs was willful and intentional. Those misrepresentations were made 

with LIPA’s full knowledge that they were incomplete and omitted material information. They 

were intended to induce the Town, the Individual Plaintiffs and the Putative Class to rely on 

those representations and they succeeded in doing so.  

79. Defendants’ conduct constituted (1) material misrepresentation and omissions of 

fact, (2) made by Defendants with knowledge of their falsity, (3) with intent to defraud, and 

(4) resulting in damage to all Plaintiffs,  

80. Plaintiffs sustained injury and damages as a direct result of Defendants' conduct, 

which was the proximate cause of said damages. 
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81. As a result of the foregoing fraud, misrepresentation and deceit, Plaintiffs are and 

should be entitled to punitive damages against all Defendants. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION – VIOLATION OF CLEAN WATER ACT 

82. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 above. 

83. Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, section 301(a) of the Clean 

Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §1251, et seq. (the “CWA”). 

84. Specifically, Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, 33 U.S.C.  

§ 1311(a), which prohibits the discharge of pollutants without a National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit, by allowing the continuous discharge of Penta from the 

utility poles through hydrologically connected groundwater, including, in at least one instance, 

through a sump pump, into waters of the United States.  Defendants are subject to civil penalties 

under the CWA section 3019(d), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), of $37,500 per day for every violation. 40 

C.F.R. § 19.4, tbl. 1. 

85. Defendants did not ever secure a NPDES permit. 

86. Section 505(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), authorizes any “citizen” to 

“commence a civil action on his own behalf . . . against any person . . .  who is alleged to be in 

violation of . . . an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter.”  

87. Section 505(f) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(f), defines an “effluent standard or 

limitation under this chapter,” for purposes of the citizen suit provision in Section 505(a) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § l365(a), to mean, among other things, an unlawful act under Section 301(a), 

33 U.S.C. § 1311 (a), of the CWA and “a permit or condition thereof issued” under Section 402, 

33 U.S.C. § 1342, of the CWA. 

88. Under Section 505(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d), the court “may award 
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costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to any prevailing or 

substantially prevailing party, whenever the court determines such an award is appropriate.” 

89. The utility poles and the sewage system carrying effluent from sumps pumps are 

“point sources” discharge as defined by the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §1362(14), because the Penta is 

conveyed to the water table, and further navigable waters, by a discrete man-made conveyance 

(the utility pole itself).  

90. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5), Defendants are each a “person” subject to the 

citizen suit provisions of the CWA. 

91. Plaintiffs provided statutory notice pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b) to Defendants 

and other required parties more than sixty days prior to the filing of this pleading. 

92. By committing the acts and omissions alleged above, Defendants are liable for an 

assessment of civil penalties pursuant to CWA sections 3019(d) and 505, 33 U.S.C. 1319(d) and 

1365 of $37,500 per day per pole.  The poles have been present for at least 1,500 days, resulting 

in statutory damages of no less than $15 billion. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION – VIOLATION OF SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT 
 

93. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 92 above. 

94. Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, the Safe Drinking Water Act, 

42 U.S.C. §300f, et seq. (“SDWA”), which prohibits the contamination of public water supplies. 

95. Section 1449 of the Safe Drinking Water Act permits any person to commence a 

civil action against “any person or agency allegedly in violation of provisions of the act or 

against the EPA Administrator for alleged failure to perform any action or duty that is not 

discretionary.” (https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL31243.pdf).   

96. According to the United States Geological Survey, “[o]n Long Island 
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groundwater is the sole source of fresh water for over 2.6 million people.” 

(https://www.usgs.gov/centers/ny-water/science/state-aquifer-long-island-new-york?qt-

science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects).  Plaintiffs are amongst the 2.6 million 

people that rely upon the groundwater for their drinking water. 

97. Defendants’ installation and management of the Penta-saturated utility poles have 

caused Penta to leach into the soil, groundwater, and sole source aquifer, contaminating 

Plaintiffs’ drinking water. 

98. Accordingly, Defendants are in violation 42 U.S.C.§ 300g-1, which prohibits 

excess pollution of certain contaminants, including Penta, into drinking water. 

99. Under 42 U.S.C. § 300j-8(d), the court “may award costs of litigation (including 

reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to any party whenever the court determines such an 

award is appropriate.” 

100. By committing the acts and omissions listed above, Defendants are liable for 

equitable relief to mitigate the health and medical risks and harm resulting from Defendants’ 

violations. 

101. Plaintiffs provided statutory notice pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 300j-8(b) to the 

Defendants and other required parties more than sixty days prior to the filing of this pleading. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION –  
VIOLATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT 

 
102. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 101 above. 

103. Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, the Resource Conservation and 

Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §6901, et seq. (“RCRA”), which “creates the framework for the proper 

management of hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste.” (https://www.epa.gov/rcra).  
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104. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 6903(15), Defendants are each a “person” subject to the 

citizen suit provisions of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972.  

105. Section 7002(a)(1)(B) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B), authorizes citizens to 

bring suit “against any person . . . who has contributed or is contributing to the past or present 

handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which 

may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.”   

106. Through their operation of the utility poles, Defendants are past, present and 

future generators of “solid waste” within the meaning of RCRA § 7002(a)(1)(B). 

107. Defendants stored, treated and transported Penta coated poles in a way that 

presents an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment. 

108. Section 7002(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a), empowers the Court to compel 

any person referred to in paragraph (1)(B) "to take such . . . action as may be necessary" to 

eliminate the endangerment.  

109. Section 7002(e) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e), authorizes the Court to award 

costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to the prevailing or 

substantially prevailing party, whenever the court determines such an award is appropriate. 

110. Defendants installed and operate the 267 Penta-saturated utility poles along the 

Route. 

111. Penta from the utility poles is reaching local groundwater flow in environmentally 

harmful levels.  This pollution may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to the 

environment as that term is used in Section 7002(a)(1)(B) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B). 

112. Plaintiffs provided statutory notice pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 6972 to the 

Defendants and other required parties more than ninety days prior to the filing of this pleading. 
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113. In accordance with RCRA, Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief, requiring 

them to abate this endangerment. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION –  
VIOLATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION LAW 

 
114. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege paragraphs 1 through 113 above. 

115. As noted above, in their submissions in the Environmental Assessment, 

Defendant LIPA alleged that the new Project would not have a significant adverse impact on the 

environment and therefore will not require the preparation of an environmental impact statement 

under SEQRA.  

116. That statement was erroneous and incomplete and must have been known and 

intentionally conceived to be erroneous and incomplete to LIPA. SEQRA required LIPA to 

provide a detailed environmental impact statement detailing the need for the project, its costs, 

benefits and risks, and any adverse environmental, safety, health and socio-economic effects of 

the project. See ECL §8-0109(2).  LIPA did not disclose the possible adverse environmental 

effects of poles coated with Penta or of high-power lines producing EMF waves.  Nor did LIPA 

mention or discuss possible alternatives such as the undergrounding of the lines or re-routing of 

the lines to more direct appropriate locations away from residential areas or the adoption of other 

measures to insure sufficient power supply and mitigate the amount of energy needed to stabilize 

and improve the reliability of the electrical system. Such alternatives include the installation of 

solar energy units, gas turbines and other energy conservation measures.  

117. LIPA failed to comply with SEQRA requirements. Its environmental assessment 

erroneously and unreasonably found and misrepresented that the Project would not result in 

potentially significant adverse effects on the health of Plaintiffs and the class they represent, all 

of whom are within the area affected by the lines, it also misrepresented that the project would 
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not damage the vegetation’s natural quality, water quality and scenic beauty of the area of the 

Town  impacted by the Project.  LIPA and PSEGLI misled the Town by intentionally omitting 

material and truthful information about the Penta loaded poles and upgraded dangerous 

transmission lines, violating the Town’s local laws, and ordinances, installing the Penta saturated 

poles without a required permit and by failing to disclose that the EMF levels of electromagnetic 

fields would cause injury. LIPA also failed to disclose the dangerous cumulative effect of the 

project.  

118. The misrepresentations by LIPA that the new project did not pose any 

environmental problems and the failure to disclose that the poles were loaded with Penta and the 

power lines would emit dangerous EMFs was willful and intentional. Such a failure to disclose 

the environmental dangers listed above was arbitrary, capricious and was unsupported by the 

evidence. Thus, the entire Project violated the requirements of SEQRA and must be cancelled 

and annulled and all the poles must be removed from their current positions. LIPA’s failure to 

disclose the dangers noted above amounts to fraudulent concealment and obviates the need for 

Plaintiffs to act with the normal limitations period.  

119. For the reasons stated above, the Environmental Assessment initially filed was not 

a final determination. Thus, SEQRA requires public notice and an opportunity for affected 

parties to be heard at public hearings. The Project was intended to be segmented into future 

elements each requiring supplementary environmental impact statements, none of which were 

supplied.  

120. Plaintiffs sustained injury as a direct result of Defendants' conduct, which was the 

proximate cause of said injury.  

 WHEREFORE Plaintiffs demand judgment as follows:  
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1. Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs declaring that this action may be brought 
on behalf of the Putative Class represented by the named Individual Plaintiffs and the 
Town whose members have suffered injuries from the same actions of Defendants 
complained of.  

 
2. Judgment in the amount of $30 million and additional amounts in favor of 

members of the Putative Class and the Town; 
 
3. Judgment in the amount of $60 million in favor of Plaintiffs to cover the 

cost of removing all poisonous substances from their property;  
 

4. An injunction requiring Defendants to remove all the poles installed in the 
Project because of their failure to comply with the requirements of SEQRA and their 
failure to comply with the permit requirements of the Town and an injunction to bury the 
lines at Defendants’ cost;  

 
5. An Order from the Court retaining jurisdiction to oversee Defendants’ 

compliance with the requirements of SEQRA, and requiring LIPA to serve a 
supplementary Environmental Impact Statement which contains information necessary to 
evaluate the EIS, including the cumulative effects of the Project, the feasibility and cost 
of  rerouting the lines or placing them underground, and the allocation of costs between 
the rate payers and stockholders of the parent companies; 

 
6. Enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated and are 

violating the CWA, SDWA and RCRA by, inter alia, discharging wastewater and other 
pollutants through hydrologically connected groundwater and sewage system into waters 
of the United States in the absence of an NPDES permit; 

 
7. Enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated and are 

violating the CWA by commencing discharges of pollutants through hydrologically 
connected groundwater into waters of the United States without first obtaining and 
complying with the terms of an NPDES permit at least 180 days prior to the first 
discharge; 

 
8. Issue appropriate injunctive relief requiring defendant immediately to 

apply for and comply with the terms of an NPDES permit for the utility poles to prevent 
further illegal discharges of pollutants; 

 
9. Impose civil penalties for Defendants’ illegal, unpermitted discharges 

from the utility poles in the amount of $37,500 per day for every violation, through the 
date of judgment herein, pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d) and 40 C.F.R. § 19.4, tbl. 1, 
with statutory damages of no less than $15 billion; 

 
 

10. Retain continuing jurisdiction to review Defendants’ compliance with all 
judgments entered herein; 
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11. Issue such additional judicial determinations and orders that are necessary 

to effectuate the foregoing requests for relief; 
 
12. Award Plaintiffs the costs of this litigation, including reasonable attorney 

and expert witness fees, pursuant to CWA section 505(d), 33 U.S.C. §1365(d);  
 
13. For Plaintiffs’ costs and attorneys’ fees; and 
 
14. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 
Dated: New York, NY 
 October 16, 2019        
       MINTZ & GOLD LLP 
 
 
      By: _________________________ 
       Steven G. Mintz 
       Peter Guirguis 
       Ryan W. Lawler 
       600 Third Avenue, 25th Floor 
       New York, New York 10016 
       (212) 696-4848 
       mintz@mintzandgold.com 
       guirguis@mintzandgold.com 
       lawler@mintzandgold.com  
       Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
       Leon Friedman 
       685 Third Avenue, 25th Floor 
       New York, N.Y. 10017 
       (646) 825-4398 
       Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
TO: 
WILLIAM A. HURST, ESQ. 
Greenberg, Traurig, LLP 
54 State Street 
Albany, NY 12207 
(518) 689-1400 
hurstw@gtlaw.com 
Attorneys for Defendants 
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